Representing the "Historical Centre" of Bologna: Preservation Policies and Reinvention of an Urban Identity

Filippo De Pieri and Paolo Scrivano

This article analyzes the visual and textual representations of the "historical centre" of Bologna before and after 1969, the year when the first of the city's celebrated plans for the preservation of the ancient urban fabric were approved. In spite of the attempts made by architects and planners to precisely and "technically" define the object of the plans, the notion of "historical city centre" remained a vague and ambiguous one. Conflicting images of history, tradition, and centrality shaped the preservation policies, and were in turn reshaped by them. The visual, historical, and political discourse behind the Bologna plans intentionally brought together a multiplicity of local and non-local cultures, resulting in an overall reinvention of both a local identity and an idea of the city of the past.
Representing the “Historical Centre” of Bologna: Preservation Policies and Reinvention of an Urban Identity

Filippo De Pieri and Paolo Scrivano

Abstract
This article analyzes the visual and textual representations of the “historical centre” of Bologna before and after 1969, the year when the first of the city’s celebrated plans for the preservation of the ancient urban fabric were approved. In spite of the attempts made by architects and planners to precisely and “technically” define the object of the plans, the notion of “historical city centre” remained a vague and ambiguous one. Conflicting images of history, tradition, and centrality shaped the preservation policies, and were in turn reshaped by them. The visual, historical, and political discourse behind the Bologna plans intentionally brought together a multiplicity of local and non-local cultures, resulting in an overall reinvention of both a local identity and an idea of the city of the past.

Résumé
Cet article analyse les représentations visuelles et discursives du « centre historicque » de Bologne avant et après 1969, date d’approbation du premier des célèbres plans pour la conservation de l’ancien tissu bâti de la ville. Malgré les nombreuses tentatives des architectes et des urbanistes pour définir précisément et « techniquement » l’objet de ces plans, la notion de « centre historicque » demeurait vague et ambiguë. Les politiques de conservation étaient influencées par une pluralité d’images en conflit (notions d’histoire, de tradition, de centralité) et les modifiaient à leur tour. Le discours visuel, historicque et politique qui accompagnait les plans de Bologne rassemblait de façon intentionnelle de multiples cultures locales et non locales, avec le résultat de réinventer à la fois une identité locale et une idée de la ville du passé.

Introduction
The policies for the city centre that Bologna’s Communist administration carried out in the late 1960s and early 1970s drew wide international attention at the time of their implementation. They were seen as an ambitious program of urban preservation whose aims were to avoid both the physical destruction of the city centre and the expulsion of the original inhabitants. The example of Bologna was widely circulated, at least in Europe: it enjoyed a long-lasting popularity among planners, architects, urban geographers, and those sectors of the public opinion that were more sensitive to the safeguarding of historical cities.

In the postwar years, what has been called the “rise of the urban conservation movement” was in no way a locally limited phenomenon. Between the end of the 1950s and the beginning of the 1960s, the need to shift from the restoration of individual and isolated buildings to the preservation of entire urban complexes of historical value began to be considered particularly urgent in several European countries. Italy was in the foreground of this tendency. During the years of the “economic miracle,” in fact, the deep transformations affecting the country’s built environment animated a wide intellectual and professional debate on the issue of the preservation of the historical centres. Centri storici became a common term either to designate the dense network of small urban centres of historical significance or identify the central core of Italy’s largest cities. The fundamental ambiguity of the expression centri storici helped to build public consensus around the several proposals for the preservation of the historical centres that were put in practice in the late 1960s and early 1970s.

The 1969 plan for Bologna was by and large the most famous among these initiatives. Despite its reputation, however, the case of Bologna is still partially analyzed and surrounded by an aura of myth. Several questions remain unanswered: how was the notion of centro storico defined when the plan was prepared, approved, and implemented? Did this notion correspond to an existing idea of historical centre? How and by what means was the centre supposed to be preserved? Univocal answers to these questions are difficult to give: architects, planners, and administrators, in fact, defined the centro storico in very different ways.

No doubt, the formalization of a concept of historical centre was a difficult task for those working in Bologna during the 1960s and the 1970s. The notion of centro storico had to be grounded on historical evidence and, at the same time, be precise enough to provide the basis for planning regulations. Moreover, preservation policies resorted also to partially inaccurate but strongly evocative representations of the historical centre, making use of images of the existing city that proved able to shape political and social consensus. As a matter of fact, in Bologna architects, planners, and administrators relied on both “technical” and “non-technical” definitions of the centro storico. What was at stake, at the end, was not only the preservation of a physical setting, but a more important issue: the redefinition of a local identity.

“Red Bologna”: “Good Administration” and Town Planning

Bologna represented an anomaly in the political panorama of postwar Italy. In a country where the Communist party (PCI) had been constantly excluded from power at the national level, the city had remained uninterruptedly under left-wing administration since the end of the war. Three Communists held the post of mayor from 1945 to the early 1980s: Giuseppe Dozza (1945–66), Guido Fanti (1966–71), and Renato Zangheri...
The substantial left-wing political sympathies of the local society
This was
town planning had a central role in this process.
Since the early 1950s, the municipality of Bologna and the PCI leaders tried to portray the city as a model of 

Town planning had a central role in this process. This was especially true during the 1960s, when the arrival of a new generation of city administrators coincided with a radical shift in Bologna's municipal agenda, involving, for example, greater attention to economic planning and the systematic implementation of a policy of deficit spending. An overall revision of the previous plan for the city, approved by the municipal council in 1955, began then to take place. From 1968 onwards, this revision resulted in a sequence of variants (variations) to the document, all of which were finally absorbed in a new general plan in 1970. The decade also witnessed the preparation of an inter-communal plan extended to the whole metropolitan region. Moreover, the period was characterized by a series of important municipal initiatives in the fields of public housing and land policy, with the implementation of schemes characterized by original technological and organizational solutions and the acquisition of extensive amounts of land in areas for potential expansion.

Finally, the municipality pursued policies aimed at increasing the interaction between citizens and the public sphere. In 1960, the city council approved the division of the city into 15 quartieri (neighbourhoods). A neighbourhood council (consiglio di quartiere) with consultative functions represented each neighbourhood: places for debate and discussion, the councils were meant to act as an intermediary between citizenry and municipality. Bologna was the first Italian city to deliberate the adoption of such institutions. The quartieri not only reinforced political consensus but contributed also to amplify the image of Bologna as the stronghold of new experimentation in local democracy. All this was possible thanks to a favourable context, one where the consensus on the projects involved administrators, labour unions, housing cooperatives, and citizens; these favourable conditions began to deteriorate at the beginning of the 1980s.

The Campaign for the Historical Centres

From the 1950s onwards, the subject of the historical centres and their preservation began to record in Italy a growing interest among both specialized and public audiences. Italy's economic and social transformation was then accompanied by an intense building activity, affecting both large and small cities and endangering the integrity of what many perceived as a cultural patrimony whose defence was of national significance. Echoes of the increasing interest in these issues could be easily found outside the architectural and planning milieux. A good example of this attitude is represented by the publication in 1958 of Italo Calvino's _La speculazione edilizia_ (The Building Speculation), a novel that described the transformation of Liguria's seashore under the push of rampant mass tourism. In this context, initiatives to safeguard the historical centres from building speculation flourished. Journalist, essayist, and social activist Antonio Cederna epitomized the figure of the modern intellectual committed to the defence of Italy's cultural patrimony. Often with marked moralistic tones, Cederna promoted campaigns from periodicals like _IL MONDO_ and _L'Espresso_ and daily newspapers like _IL CORRIERE DELLA SERA_ to stop new interventions in historical settings. This movement of opinion led to the foundation of associations such as Italia Nostra, created in 1956 with the task of sensitizing the public to conservation.

On its part, the official professional culture (or at least part of it) tried to press in favour of a more controlled urban development, one respectful of the cultural heritage of the Italian cities. The INU (“Istituto Nazionale di Urbanistica,” National Institute of Town Planning) began to address the issue of the historical centres in its congresses, most notably the one of Lucca of 1957. One subject recurrently debated in the INU conferences was the need to bridge the gap between urban planning and preservation of historic buildings. Two laws approved before the end of World War II had created separate bureaucratic paths and legislative procedures for these matters. The 1939 law for the protection of the artistic heritage (Law n. 1089) was centred upon the action of specific state offices, the Soprintendenze, while the 1942 law on planning (Law n. 1150) had given the task of approving planning documents to municipal administrations. As preservation was increasingly directed towards entire urban areas rather than isolated works, it was important—many argued—to integrate these separate approaches and address the problem with specific planning instruments.

A turning point in the debate over the Italian historical centres was the foundation in 1960 of the Associazione Nazionale per i Centri Storico-artistici (National Association for the Art-historical Centres, ANCSA) an association that grouped architects, planners, experts on restoration, and municipal administrators. One of the outcomes of the first ANCSA congress held in Gubbio was the drafting of a document (the so-called Carta di Gubbio) that was a declaration of principles for the preservation of the city centres. The congress also marked the moment when the expression _centri storici_ started to be widely recognized as the _mot d'ordre_ used by a heterogeneous elite to discuss the problem of urban preservation.

During the 1950s, a large part of the town-planning debate regarded the urban policies of the Fascist regime as a target...
Representing the "Historical Centre" of Bologna

Figure 1: The general plan for Bologna (1970). The light grey area at the centre of the drawing represents the centro storico.

for polemics, with the sventramenti, the large-scale demolitions of the centres of Rome and other Italian cities, often evoked as an example. On the contrary, historians tend today to stress that many links existed between the postwar professional milieu and the architectural and planning culture of the 1920s and 1930s. The work of Gustavo Giovannoni is probably the best example of these continuities. In his influential book of 1931, Vecchie città ed edilizia nuova (Old Cities and New Building), Giovannoni argued that “surviving old cities are almost always unfit to become the centre of new ones.” According to Giovannoni, decentralization of functions external to the “old cities” was the only way to reconcile modern urban development with the need to preserve existing urban settings. The example of Giovannoni makes clear that the preservation of old urban tissues was already a crucial problem for the Italian planning culture in the early 20th century. The postwar debate about the centri storici was the result of this ongoing history. This was also the case of the discussions taking place in Bologna around the preservation of the city’s central area.

Defining Bologna’s Centro Storico: The Studies of the Mid-1960s

The most influential attempt to define Bologna’s centro storico in a way that could provide a basis for a preservation policy was made in the early 1960s by a group of architects and planners led by architectural historian Leonardo Benevolo. The group
Representing the “Historical Centre” of Bologna

was based at the University of Florence, since the University of Bologna did not have a faculty of architecture at that time.\textsuperscript{24} The research was one of the studi settoriali (sector studies), as they were called, commissioned by the municipality as preliminary works for a revision of the 1955 plan.\textsuperscript{25} The preface to the document—unsigned yet certainly written by Benevolo—explained why, in the view of the authors, the historical city should be the object of special planning policies as a whole.

A fracture existed, according to the document, between the “modern city” and the “city of the past.” No continuity could be found between these two opposite urban models: their spatial forms and organizational principles were irreducibly different. As “we communicate with the past less and less through the continuity of tradition and more and more through historical reflection,” the report argued, it was necessary to preserve what remained of the historical city as a “concrete testimony” of “past values.” It was important to recognize that the “directional” functions required by the modern city could not but partly find their place in historical settings. Most of these functions, especially bureaucratic and commercial activities generating the movement of large masses of people, were incompatible with the ancient urban fabric and its road network. Whenever located in the historical centre, they inevitably tended to produce an “irresistible push” towards transformation and, implicitly, towards a loss of cultural identity. The remedy was clear. Only a few
Representing the “Historical Centre” of Bologna

central activities contained in the metropolitan area of Bologna could be located in the old city centre: the remaining others would have to be situated elsewhere. Interestingly enough, the report gave no explicit definition of what a “modern city” was.

As these excerpts make clear, the document prepared by the group led by Benevolo considered the preservation of the historical city to be just an aspect of a larger problem: the organization of Bologna at a metropolitan scale. The preservation of the centre could be considered only in the context of a wider policy. It was, in many respects, a problem of centrality: if some activities of the “modern city” tended to destroy the “historical centre,” it was the planner’s and the administrator’s duty to imagine a metropolitan organization based upon the coexistence of different types of centrality. These statements echoed Giovannoni’s old assumptions about the role of city centres in the modern city and, to a certain extent, adapted them to a different conceptual and historiographical framework.

The delimitation of Bologna’s centro storico, proposed by the Benevolo group, was defined on a limited number of factors. The centro storico was identified with the entire area of the city within the perimeter once occupied by the late-medieval walls. However, not everything within this limit was considered worthy of preservation. The report emphasized the diversity of the cityscape, reminding the administrators that the historical city was the result of a stratification of building activities resulting from successive alterations. Some zones had been so altered that they had almost lost their historical value: the preservation policies put forward by the report did not apply to them. As a whole urban and social entity, defined by the memory of the walls and the persistence of a sense of unity, the centro storico was one thing. As the object of an architectural and urban preservation translated into practice, it was something else.

The centre was losing population when the report was written. Its 116,949 residents according to the 1951 census had already diminished to 93,219 in 1961. The document did not count on a reversal of this trend: it rather hoped to bring the population in the central area to a total of 75,000. Expulsion of residents was perceived as a problem, but large parts of the city centre were still deemed overcrowded: for this reason, experts thought that the city could benefit from the reduction of density encouraged by the plan. The report did not hide the fact that pressure of non-residential activities upon the historical centre was bound to grow. It called for strong administrative action, in order to carefully control the phenomenon and reduce its potentially negative effects. The city centre was depicted as a living part of the city, still densely populated, characterized by a high degree of social cohesion, formal unity, and functional interconnection.

Plans for the City Centre, 1969–1973

Bologna’s municipal council approved the plan for the preservation of the centro storico on 21 July 1969. The document was one of the varianti to the 1955 plan: it replaced the latter’s directions for the centre, which still allowed for relevant architectural modifications, with a new set of regulations, more oriented towards the preservation of the existing urban fabric. When the plan was approved, Leonardo Benevolo was no longer involved in the city’s preservation initiatives. In fact, while the “sector studies” of the early and mid-1960s had been systematically entrusted to external consultants, by the end of the decade a much more prominent role was played by Bologna’s recently renewed municipal services and technical bureaucratic apparatus. The figure of Pier Luigi Cervellati epitomized this change: an architect and former member of the research group led by Benevolo, he later joined the municipality and rapidly gained a wide national and international reputation.

Nevertheless, the plan of 1969 continued to be inspired by the studies that had been carried out in the previous years. Among
other things, this was evident in the way the city centre was identified by the document the municipality had approved. The plan, in fact, defined the centre as the part of the city enclosed by the boulevards built in the early 19th century under Napoleon’s rule, with the exceptions that had been defined by the 1965 document. The plan also illustrated the transformations that were considered admissible for every building of the historical city. Once again, the definition of the permitted or forbidden actions (six categories, which ranged from complete demolition and reconstruction to total conservation) was derived, with some developments and modifications, from the Benevolo report. The analysis of the urban fabric proposed by the plan was relatively simple. The architectures of the city centre were divided into four basic typologies, a classification that had only a partial impact on the proposed interventions. The first typology included large monumental buildings of historical relevance (the so-called big containers): these were considered crucial for the localization of special urban services (for instance, those associated with the presence of the university).

The 1969 plan for the centro storico was above all a classification of the existing buildings, accompanied by regulations defining a limited set of possible transformations. Publicly funded procedures for the implementation of the plan in specific parts of the city centre were put into action only at a later stage. Most of them were launched in the early 1970s, when a growing emphasis upon social housing and land policy involved a major reassessment of the plan’s goals. This change of attitude was related to the social conflicts generated by the worsening housing situation, a problem that affected several Italian cities in those years. This issue took on particular importance in the political agenda of local administrations; more importantly, it was accompanied by a widespread perception that part of the problem could be solved through public intervention on the existing housing stock in the city centres.

Bologna soon positioned itself in the forefront of these initiatives. In the aftermath of the approval by the Italian Parliament, in 1971, of a law on public housing (Law n. 865), the municipality headed by Mayor Zangheri chose to experiment with implementation of these new legislative instruments in some parts of the city centre. A plan for low-cost public housing (“Piano di edilizia economico-popolare,” PEEP) was passed by the municipal council in 1973; it was concerned exclusively with the city centre. The action undertaken by the municipality raised fierce discussions among planners and within the PCI itself, in particular on expropriation of large private properties. Precise historical evaluations of the effects of these strategies are not available yet; nonetheless, it must be noted that, at the end of the decade, several authors seemed to agree on the high economic cost and limited social impact of these policies on the renewal of the existing housing stock. In any event, this “social” aspect of the preservation activity soon became the most widely publicized aspect of the experience of Bologna, in Italy and abroad.

The City Centre and Its Narrative

The 1969 plan for the city centre was presented to the citizens of Bologna in an exhibition opened in May 1970 in the rooms of Palazzo d’Accursio and in the courtyard of the Archiginnasio. Under the title of “Bologna centro storico,” the show represented an important moment to public communication. As its subtitle (“An ancient city for a new society”) made clear, the contrasting issues of preservation and modernization were at stake. The purpose of the exhibition was twofold: to gather consensus on the recent policies for the city centre and to use the ancient city as a medium of political communication, in order to reinforce a collective identification between citizens, local government, and the physical setting of the city.

In the catalogue published to accompany the 1970 exhibition, the images of the city centre were presented as a complement to the portrayal of the centro storico codified by the 1969 plan. This emphasis on visual representation served not only to speak to a general audience but also to produce a link between the plan (and the planners) and sectors of the Bolognese cultural elite. For example, several art historians and preservation specialists working at the Soprintendenze were involved in the preparation of the 1970 exhibition and catalogue. In their essays they provided copious information on Bologna’s architectural and artistic history. Even though their nuanced analysis of the city’s historical characters contrasted often with the simple classification of the urban fabric propounded by the planning documents, their involvement helped to create consensus on the new policies among key sectors of the Bolognese society.

An important role in this consensus-building strategy directed towards both the general public and other specialists and experts was played by visual communication—notably photography. At the beginning of 1969, just before the plan’s approval, the municipality commissioned the photographer Paolo Monti to complete a “photographic survey” of the centre. Monti was not new to working in the context of Emilia-Romagna and had begun during the 1960s to participate in various surveys directed at analyzing and reevaluating the local cultural patrimony. His “survey” set forth with a series of trial sessions conducted between March and April 1969. The main campaign began some months later, on 8 August. A squad of city policemen and municipal workers—whose task was to close streets to pedestrian and vehicular traffic and to remove billboards and road and shop signs—accompanied the photographer. Tow trucks followed this unusual cortège in case cars were left in the No Parking zone.

Monti’s work produced an astonishing number of photographs: more than four thousand. The photographer employed two types of cameras: the Linhoff 10 x 12 and the Nikon F reflex. The latter had been chosen because it was an agile and relatively cheap instrument for a work that was intended to realize a large number of shots in a short period of time. During the campaign, Monti pursued an approach grounded on the rapidity of execution and on the possibility of producing long se-
Representing the “Historical Centre” of Bologna

Figure 3: Paolo Monti, photograph of Strada Maggiore without traffic. From Bologna centro storico, 192.

quences of shots. It was an overview of the urban space based on a multiplicity of sights rather than an analytical investigation. The campaign offered a vision of the city characterized by perspective visuals, often accentuated by the long colonnades of Bologna’s famous arcades. All photographs were taken at human eye level. Isolated details sometimes punctuated the tracking shot, almost as a series of objets trouvés. Occasionally, the photographer moved from the streets into the adjacent buildings, to explore courtyards, gardens, and architectural and ornamental details.

The campaign was instrumental to the consolidation of Bolognese public opinion on the issue of the historical centre in that it offered a visual representation of the otherwise abstract notion of centro storico. Not only were the photographs presented during the 1970 exhibition at Palazzo d’Accursio, but Monti’s material became the bulk of the show. Even if they represented only a selection of the shots made during the campaign, Monti’s photographs portrayed a reality that the visitors could observe outside the walls of the exhibition spaces, creating thus a short-circuit between historical image and direct perception. In this respect, photography provided a sort of mediation to the visual observation of the urban space. The way Monti’s work was used in the exhibition and catalogue emphasized the more easily perceivable, almost common-sense traits of his work: the nostalgic image of a city untouched by modernity, full of hidden secrets and architectural surprises, a city that only the glance of the flâneur could fully appreciate. In a section of the catalogue entitled “The Garage City,” Monti’s photographs were presented in couples to create contrasting effects between the images of Bologna submerged by traffic and those of the empty city. By implicitly inviting observers to appreciate a view unaffected by contemporary transformations, the book almost seemed to condemn modernity: moral issues prevailed over all scientific and practical consideration.

Monti’s portrait of Bologna was neither a “survey” nor a mere invention of the photographer. In the postwar years, in fact, several photographers had already portrayed the city and its physical setting, although none of them had operated within a publicly funded project of such ambition. Some of these photographers (such as Walter Breveglieri, Aldo Ferrari, Antonio Masotti, or Enrico Pasquali) had, in different ways, contributed to the fabrication of some of the visual conventions later revisited by Monti. In turn, it is worth remembering that these representations were sometimes related to more remote sources,
such as pictorial traditions, literary descriptions of the city, local histories, urban biographies. The complexity of this visual and textual stratification is particularly evident in the short films that Renzo Renzi made in the 1950s for the Provincial Tourist Office. His *Guida per camminare all'ombra* ("A Guide to Walking in the Shade," 1955), written with Leone Pancaldi, reconstructed the history of Bologna's arcades and portrayed them as the key element of the image of the city. Arcades contributed to the character of an urban scenery that was, as the script went, "perhaps without big architectural individualities but bound together and homogeneous." Bologna's arcades were also a key element of Monti's photographic survey and a recurring theme of the image of the city outlined by the 1970 exhibition. It is interesting to note, however, that no specific attention had been given to these defining elements of the cityscape in the plan of 1969.

**Conclusions**

In spite of the attempts by architects, architectural historians, and planners to provide an "objective" background for preservation, the idea of "historical centre" that lay behind the policies put in place by the municipality of Bologna in the 1960s and 1970s remained in many respects equivocal. Far from being just "technical," it reflected the influence of a plurality of cultural factors that were in turn reshaped by the changing notion of centro storico. Among them were generic definitions of art and architectural heritage, social and political practices affecting urban space, deeply rooted traditions of urban description, and visual representations codified by cinema and photography.

To explain operatively what the centro storico was, or to isolate the key elements of the city's urban fabric, was no easier task in the 1960s than it would be today. Interestingly enough, most of the people involved in this operation were not from Bologna. In fact, nothing of what happened there was only of local importance. That of "Red Bologna" was a political experiment of national relevance, a crucial showcase for the administrative capacity of the Communist party. The city attracted political and technical élites from all over Italy, and these élites—be they planners like Giuseppe Campos Venuti, architectural historians like Benevolo, photographers like Monti—made important contributions to the definition of the image of Bologna's city centre.

It was one of the paradoxes of the Bologna experience (and, more generally, of the Italian debate over the historical centres) that these collective efforts converged ultimately upon the definition of a local identity. One of the main goals of the preservation policy was to build consensus among Bologna's
citizens; in doing this, administrators, architects, and planners tried to associate a sense of citizenship with a notion of shared tradition. Unsurprisingly, this tradition was largely invented: it was a cultural construction based upon the assemblage of heterogeneous materials. Some of these materials were recent while others were deeply rooted in the past. Some were already shared by portions of Bologna’s society while others were not. Some aimed at an “objective” analysis of the urban fabric while others suggested the traits of a regressive utopia. At the end, the image of the historical Bologna that emerged was a collage of representations, the result of a cultural mediation.

Another paradox was that the consolidation of this image contributed in the following years to a rise in real estate values in the historical centre, in a process that contradicted some of the “social” intents that had accompanied the plans of 1969–1973. In fact, the attempt to use the historical centre in order to define a local identity favoured a valorization of the centro storico that was both cultural and economic and that coincided with the contemporary rediscovery of central of the central areas of Italy’s largest cities by building speculation. The result was a somewhat conflicting relationship among preservation plans, housing policies, urban planning programs, and real estate dynamics. The constant predominance of an “architectural” attitude in dealing with the problems of the historical centre further amplified these contradictions.

The policies for the urban conservation of Bologna in the 1960s and 1970s resorted to powerful metaphors. The plurality of images and words associated with the idea of historical centre was a precious resource for Bologna’s administrators. This plurality enabled the city, its leaders, and its bureaucratic apparatus to adapt their policies to changing circumstances, while speaking to different cultural elites and sectors of the Italian public opinion. The outcome was a partial reinvention of Bologna’s urban identity, one that shaped an ambiguous but highly evocative public discourse about the historical city.

Acknowledgements
The Nederlands Architectuurinstituut and the Akademie der Künste Berlin provided financial assistance in the early stages of the research. The authors wish to thank Luigi Mazza and Michelle Morgante for their extended and useful criticism, and Angela Tromellini (Cineteca di Bologna, Archivio Fotografico) for her precious help.

Notes
3. An interesting analysis of Italy’s “preservation model,” one that stresses both its peculiarity and originality in an international context, has recently been made by Salvatore Settis, Italia S.p.A. L’assalto al patrimonio culturale (Turin: Einaudi, 2002).
9. At a political level, there was wide agreement on the fact that planning was one of the few fields in which it was possible to carry out partial experiences of decentralized municipal government. Even an opponent to the PCI hegemony, the Christian Democrat Giuseppe Dossetti, claimed the importance of city plans, because they were the “only law”—he stated—that municipalities were allowed to issue: Democrazia Cristiana, Libro bianco su Bologna (Bologna: Poligrafico Il Resto del Carlino,” 1956), 29.


Representing the "Historical Centre" of Bologna

social housing, historical centres, green spaces, schools. These were always entrusted to couples formed by an expert and a local correspondent. Therefore we [had] Aymonino with Giordani, Benevolo with Ardina, Insolera with Ballardi, and so on"; Quilici and Sichened, 44.


27. It is worth noting that Bologna’s effort to define a policy for the historical centre was paralleled by the definition of new inter-communal strategies and by attempts to plan a “directional centre” outside the old city, in proximity to the new Fiera, the exhibition centre designed by Benevolo himself in 1964–65. Proposals for the centro direzionale were put forward in the mid-1960s in Carlo Aymonino and Pierluigi Giordani, I centri direzionali: teoria e pratica. Gli esempi italiani e stranieri. Dimensionamento e localizzazione di un centro direzionale nella città di Bologna (Bari: De Donato, 1965). Further projects for the directional centre and the Fiera District were proposed (and only partly carried out) by Kenzo Tange in the early 1970s.

28. It is interesting to note that discussions over centrality had also a central importance in the political process that led to the institution of the neighbour-hood councils. In 1960, when the consigli di quartiere were first created, the centre did not have its own council. Four consigli di quartiere for the historical city were created only later, in 1966. As the deputy mayor Crocioni told the city council in 1963, “We cannot consider the city centre as a neighbour-hood . . . In the city centre there are facilities, structures, institutions matching not only the needs of the neighbourhood but also those of the entire city . . . The centre has a . . . general directional function.” Quoted in Ceccarelli and GallIngani, Bologna: decentramento, quartieri, città, 209.

29. This spatial definition of the centre could appear quite logical, since the demolition of the walls, their replacement with a ring of boulevards, and the subsequent expansion towards the periphery had taken place comparatively late in Bologna—only in the decades following the 1889 plan for the city. Giovanni Ricci, Bologna (Rome-Bari: Laterza, 1980), 140–55.

30. Relazione dell’indagine settoriale sul centro storico di Bologna, 46–64.

31. Archivio Storico del Comune di Bologna, “Approfondimenti e dati aggiornati dell’area del centro storico,” PRG, 7. The plan’s approval was preceded by the highly symbolic decision to limit to pedestrians the access to the area around Piazza Maggiore (September 1968).


35. Comune di Bologna, Assessorato all’edilizia pubblica, Peep centro storico (Bologna, 1972); Comune di Bologna, Piano per il centro storico: Stato delle abitazioni e struttura della popolazione, ed. Claudio Caroni, 2nd ed. (Bologna, 1972); Comune di Bologna, Assessorato all’edilizia pubblica, La convenzione per il risanamento dei 5 comparti Peep-centro storico: Relazione e allegati (Bologna, 1975); Comune di Bologna, Assessorato alla programmazione casa e assetto urbano, Restauro conservativo nel centro storico di Bologna: Programmi, progetti, realizzazioni (Bologna, 1978).


42. Perhaps with involuntary irony, some of the photographs of the exhibition’s installation showed visitors contemplating images of porticoes displayed on panels installed under other porticoes: see, for instance, Archivio Fotografico Cineteca del Comune di Bologna, Fondo Paolo Monti, 18–1147/1, 18–1147/12, 18–1147/24, 18–1148/3, 18–1149/16, 18–1148/32.

43. An interesting case of public use of Monti’s photographs is provided by the sociological survey conducted before the 1970 exhibition, and partly
Representing the "Historical Centre" of Bologna

published in the catalogue. The survey consisted of two sessions of 20 and 500 interviews respectively. Photographs were showed to the interviewees in order to grasp "the expressiveness of the historical centre." Questions were formulated in such a way that the need to preserve historical settings was almost implicitly stated from the outset (for instance, "Do you believe that palaces, streets, houses, churches, and piazzes tell history better than a book?"). Not surprisingly, researchers concluded that an "image of the historical centre" already existed and that the arcades were its "universally recognized leitmotiv." In conclusion, the survey sounded like the expression of ideas that predated the analysis rather than an attempt to register the frictions generated by the introduction of "modern" standards of life in an ancient urban setting: see Egeria Rescigno Di Nallo, "Il centro storico come racconto popolare: Indagine sociologica," in Bologna centro storico, 207-28.

44. "La città 'garage,'" in Bologna centro storico, 189-97. A similar visual narrative had been systematically arranged just a few months before, although with less interesting results, in a book by Alberto Menarini and Athos Vianelli, Bologna per la strada: Fotoconfronti col passato (Bologna: Tamari, 1969). The way Monti's images were chosen and coupled in the catalogue strongly recalled A. W. N. Pugin's Contrasts (Salisbury: Pugin, 1836), a book whose engravings were familiar to Italian architects thanks to Benevolo's work, especially Le origini dell'urbanistica moderna. Years later, Cervellati—one of the authors of the plan—stated explicitly that Monti's photographic campaign almost suggested a crystallization of the existing city: '"[These photographs] make understand . . . that maintenance is the only acceptable intervention in our historical centres." Cervellati, "Paolo Monti," 276.


47. Renzo Renzi, Guida per camminare all'ombra, script by Renzo Renzi and Leone Pancaldi, photography by Giulio Gianini, music by Enzo Masetti, Columbus Film, 1955, 11 min. Involved in many activities connected to preservation issues, Renzi was also the author of a book on Bologna's history and identity: Renzo Renzi, Bologna: una città, with photographs by Aldo Ferrari (Bologna: Cappelli, 1960).